

Effects of 2,3-dihydroxybenzoate on Growth and Antibiotic Resistance in *E. coli*

A Major Qualifying Project Submitted to the faculty of WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Bachelor of Science in Biology & Biotechnology

> Authored by: Dana Littlefield and Tammie Zhu

> > Report submitted on: 27 April 2023

Advisor: Professor Michael Buckholt mbuckhol@wpi.edu Worcester Polytechnic Institute

This report represents work of one or more WPI undergraduate students submitted to the faculty as evidence of a degree requirement. WPI routinely publishes these reports on its website without editorial or peer review.

Abstract

This study investigated the effects of 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) on the growth of *E. coli* in the presence of antibiotics with different mechanisms of action. DHB is a natural metabolite found in certain plants and a minor by-product of human aspirin metabolism. Results showed that *E. coli* treated with DHB exhibited resistance to vancomycin, tetracycline, and nalidixic acid, suggesting that DHB may have potential implications for induced antibiotic resistance. Further research is needed to determine the antibiotics affected and explore the potential therapeutic applications of metabolites.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Table of Figures	2
Introduction	3
Pathogenic bacteria	3
Golden Age of Antibiotics	4
Antibiotic Resistance	4
Efflux Pumps & 2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic Acid	6
Mechanism of Action of Various Antibiotics	8
Proposed Hypothesis	9
Methods	10
Results	11
Discussion	15
Data interpretation	15
Improvements to Experimental Design	16
Future Work & Conclusions	17
References	19
Appendix	23

Table of Figures

Figure 1: Resistance mechanism	5
Figure 2: Structure of DHB	6
Figure 3: Proposed acrAB regulation model	7
Figure 4: Growth of E. coli in different DHB concentrations	11
Figure 5: OD_{600} of <i>E. coli</i> after 8 hours of incubation	12
Figure 6: Average ZOI diameter measurements	13
Figure 7: Photograph of Growth in ZOI	14

Introduction

Antibiotics are a common treatment for a variety of diseases caused by bacteria. However, these antibiotics have decreased in their effectiveness over time as strains of bacteria develop antibiotic resistance. Despite the decrease in effective antibiotic treatments, there has yet to be increased funding towards research and development of new antibiotics due to a lack of financial incentives (Cook et al., 2022). This creates a precarious situation where common diseases have the potential to become untreatable. Therefore, the continued development of new antibiotics and an understanding of antibiotic resistance is crucial for sustainable treatment.

For this project, it was necessary to induce resistance in *E. coli* bacteria using the metabolite 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB). Although it is widely known that the increase of antibiotic resistance is primarily from increased and improper antibiotic usage, antibiotic resistance could also stem from other sources. DHB is a small product of human aspirin metabolism that increases activity in *E. coli*'s main efflux pump. This could also be a contributing factor to the increase in antibiotic resistance. This method of inducible antibiotic resistance can provide insight into how various antibiotics can perform in the presence of aspirin in the human body.

Pathogenic bacteria

Bacteria are found almost everywhere. For instance, the human body is host to numerous species of bacteria. Most of these species are harmless, and some of them are beneficial. Only a few species are responsible for causing disease (NHGRI, 2022). Species of bacteria that are responsible for causing disease are known as pathogenic bacteria, and the remaining are known as benign.

Infection occurs when a microorganism, such as bacteria, enters a host and multiples uncontrollably (Peterson, 1996). The human body has multiple defense mechanisms against the invasion of pathogenic bacteria, one of which is the immune system. The immune system plays a major role in suppressing uncontrollable bacterial reproduction, and those who are immunosuppressed or immunocompromised are unable to defend themselves from life-threatening infections (Peterson, 1996). Therefore, it is crucial for medical professionals to be able to treat bacterial infections in patients in a sustainable manner while lessening the risk of antibiotic resistance development.

Golden Age of Antibiotics

The first antibiotic, salvarsan, was used in 1910 (Hutchings et al., 2019). Salvarsan was used to treat syphilis, a disease that causes open sores, rashes, and eventually neurological issues. In 1909, Paul Ehrlich and his team developed hundreds of synthesized, organic compounds. They finally found success in compound 606, Salvarsan. Salvarsan went onto the market in 1910 and continued to be used until the 1940's (Cook & Naglak, 2012).

The golden antibiotic era began with the discovery of penicillin in 1928 by Alexander Fleming, however, this era did not last for even half a century (Hassan et al., 2012). Several other antibiotics were discovered following penicillin, such as streptomycin and tetracycline, that are now widely used (Penesyan et al., 2015). Antibiotics were considered the miracle drug as they could cure previously incurable common infections, and there was a significant increase in antibiotic usage. Due to this increased use, many bacteria soon grew resistant to the inhibitory effects of antibiotics. Modern bacteria are continuing to form or acquire new resistance methods, preventing effective treatment of antibiotics (Penesyan et al., 2015).

Antibiotic Resistance

Antibiotic-resistant pathogens pose a concern to public health. For example, within the first year of penicillin's first use, 50% of Staphylococcus aureus isolates in a hospital were found to be resistant (Penesyan et al., 2015). The World Health Organization (WHO) is worried about the state of human health. They estimate that one billion people will be infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis between 2000 and 2020, and the reappearance of its more virulent and resistant form will result in 35 million deaths (Hassan et al., 2012).

The Infectious Disease Society of America (IDSA) reported that over 70% of fatal infections from pathogenic bacteria were likely bacteria that were resistant to common antibacterial drugs (Hassan et al., 2012). Bacteria obtain antibiotic resistance through different mechanisms, such as spontaneous mutation. Some of these mutations may cause the antibiotic target site to change or create enzymes that degrade antibiotics (Hassan et al., 2012). Another possible manner in which bacteria may develop antibiotic resistance is through exposure to antibiotics below the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC). When bacteria are in the presence of antibiotics below the lethal concentration, they are able to begin mutating in response to develop resistance before being exposed to the MIC of the antibiotic. This can occur in natural environments such as river water and soil when antibiotics are discarded inappropriately (Wistrand-Yuen et al., 2018). Additionally, inappropriate prescribing of antibiotics can expose patients' microbiomes to antibiotics, allowing for resistance to develop. There are also classical resistant mechanisms based on cellular resistance, some of which include inactivating the drug through hydrolysis or modification, altering the drug target, using permeation barriers, and activating efflux mechanisms (Penesyan et al., 2015).



Figure 1: Resistance mechanism, the Figure above shows the pathway a drug takes through a cell with an effective efflux pump (Darby et al., 2022).

Cellular resistance stems from mutations or gene transfers from other microorganisms. Many genes function for survival and provide resistance to antimicrobials. These genes are named resistomes, or resistance genes. Resistomes can be indicative of antibiotic resistance in bacterial cells. Resistance genes are abundant in natural environments and can alter intracellular targets and transporters that facilitate antibiotic mechanisms of action (Martínez et al., 2014). It is possible that resistance mechanisms, like multidrug transporters, were originally developed as a way for cells to pump out toxins and were not specifically designed to transport antibiotics. The *acrAB* operon in *E. coli* has been identified as an example of a resistance element, however, its implications on public health are undetermined. It is still unclear whether the resistome influences antibiotic resistance, however, there is evidence that cells may be more susceptible to antibiotics in the absence of these genes. These "resistance" genes were likely located on chromosomes and had important functions before the use of antibiotics (Penesyan et al., 2015).

When a cell develops antibiotic resistance, there is a fitness cost associated with its ability to survive and reproduce under normal conditions. For mutant bacteria, antibiotic-resistant strains demonstrated decreased fitness in the absence of antibiotics compared to wild-type strains (Melnyk et al., 2015). This fitness cost supports the theory that decreased use of antibiotics

decreases the prevalence of resistant bacterial strains. Given that antibiotic-resistant microbes are less likely to survive and reproduce under wild-type conditions, decreasing the presence of antibiotics in the environment will decrease the frequency of these microbes infecting humans and animals. This occurs when the mutations that are responsible for antibiotic resistance cause defects in important cell functions. For example, bacteria that are resistant to aminoglycosides, such as streptomycin, often present with impaired ribosomal structure and function (Melnyk et al., 2015). Additionally, antibiotic-resistant bacteria may grow more slowly due to the additional energy needed to maintain resistance.

Efflux Pumps & 2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic Acid

AcrAB-TolC is the main efflux pump in *Escherichia coli* with the primary purpose of effluxing toxic molecules to help regulate homeostasis. Overexpression of this pump results in antibiotic resistance (Figure 1). This pump can efflux multiple different classes of antibiotics including β -lactams, tetracyclines, and fluoroquinolones. AcrAB-TolC is composed of 3 subunits: AcrA, AcrB, and TolC. It captures and effluxes substances within the periplasm across and out of the outer membrane. The periplasm is the space between the inner and outer membrane of a Gram-negative bacteria. AcrAB-TolC also regulates the expression of the *acrAB* operon (Ruiz & Levy, 2014).

2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) is a naturally occurring metabolite found in plants such as the Phyllanthus acidus, a type of gooseberry, and Salvinia molesta, an aquatic fern (NCBI, 2022). It can also be found as a product of human aspirin metabolism. Aspirin is commonly used to alleviate pain, and 2,3-DHB was found in the blood plasma and urine of healthy volunteers after taking aspirin (Grootveld & Halliwell, 1988).



Figure 2: Structure of DHB (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022)

When DHB is introduced to the medium, it spontaneously diffuses into the cytosol and diffuses freely across the membrane of *E. coli* (Ruiz & Levy, 2014). As it is rapidly uptaken by *E. coli*, DHB concentration within the cell becomes the same as in the medium within five minutes. A study found that the presence of DHB induces activity in the *acrAB* operon (Figure 3), increasing the cell's metabolism rate (Ruiz & Levy, 2014). This increases the rate at which the cell can metabolize antibiotics, therefore inducing resistance.



Figure 3: Proposed acrAB regulation model, DHB accumulation causes a cascade that ultimately up-regulates the expression of *acrAB*. Dashed lines represent hypothetical interactions (Ruiz & Levy, 2014).

In bacteria, the introduction of DHB has been observed to increase activity of the AcrAB-TolC pump through the *acrAB* operon. Once DHB within the cytoplasm, it is known to bind and inhibit MarR (Ruiz & Levy, 2014). The inhibition of MarR induces the expression of MarA, which then ultimately upregulates the expression of *acrAB*. The purpose of this upregulation is to maintain homeostasis. The increased efficiency of the efflux pump allows the cell to survive in the presence of antibiotics and other toxic molecules. Ruiz and Levy also proposed that other cellular metabolites may be regulating *acrAB* through the two other loci *soxRS* and *acrR*. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in *E. coli* is an example of a classic antibiotic resistance mechanism.

Mechanism of Action of Various Antibiotics

Antibiotics are divided into two categories: bactericidal and bacteriostatic. Bacteriostatic antibiotics inhibit the growth and replication of bacteria, whereas bactericidal antibiotics kill the cell. Within these categories, antibiotics can have a variety of targets within the cell. Examples of targets within the cell include cell wall synthesis and DNA replication. Antibiotic-resistant bacteria often develop mutations to protect their intracellular targets from antibiotics.

There has been an urgent need to develop novel antibiotics with different mechanisms to combat pathogens and their antibiotic-resistant forms. A decrease in interest in discovering new antibiotics could be because pharmaceutical companies are no longer finding the pursuit economically profitable (Hassan et al., 2012).

Tetracycline is a widely used antibiotic in the medical field. It kills bacteria by targeting the 16S r-RNA in the 30S ribosomal subunit so that t-RNA cannot bind to the A site, inhibiting protein synthesis (Kapoor et al., 2017). Similarly, Chloramphenicol also prevents t-RNA from binding to the A site by targeting the 23S r-RNA in the 50S subunit, inhibiting protein synthesis within the cell. Both of these mechanisms disrupt protein synthesis, which is a necessary aspect of cell function.

Carbenicillin is a broad-spectrum penicillin-derived antibiotic. It targets cell wall synthesis by binding to penicillin-binding proteins, thus inhibiting the cross-linking of peptidoglycan (National Center for Biotechnology Information, 2022). By disrupting cell wall synthesis, carbenicillin causes the target cell to lyse. Similarly, Vancomycin acts on gram-negative bacteria by inhibiting cell wall synthesis. Vancomycin enters the periplasm through the outer membrane, where it binds to the cell wall precursors, preventing polymerization (Sutterlin et al, 2014). Strains of *E. coli* with mutated outer membranes demonstrate increased susceptibility to antibiotics, so the efficiency of vancomycin is dependent on its ability to enter the cell.

Ampicillin was developed as a solution to penicillin resistance. Ampicillin binds to membrane-bound penicillin-binding proteins, which are responsible for peptidoglycan synthesis in cell wall formation (Peechakara et al., 2022). This mechanism inhibits cell wall synthesis, which kills the target cell.

Trimethoprim enters the cell through transmembrane proteins known as porins in the outer membrane (AlRabiah et al., 2018). Once in the cell, trimethoprim inhibits folic acid synthesis by inhibiting the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase (Kapoor et al., 2017). Once folic acid synthesis is disrupted, the target cell will no longer be able to synthesize DNA, resulting in cell death.

Polymyxin B attacks the cell membrane by binding to the lipopolysaccharides and increasing the permeability of the outer membrane (Daugelavicius et al., 2000). This allows Polymyxin B to

enter the cell and cause lysis. Despite its relatively low MIC, Polymyxin B is not commonly prescribed as an antibiotic due to its severe clinical side effects. Resistance to Polymyxin B can occur due to mutations in the membrane lipopolysaccharides, which would inhibit the ability of Polymyxin B to enter the cell.

Finally, nalidixic acid targets DNA replication by disrupting the replication fork (Siddiqui et al., 2020). Specifically, nalidixic acid inhibits the activity of the DNA gyrase, which is responsible for the activity of the replication fork. This mechanism of action classifies nalidixic acid as a quinolone, similar to ciprofloxacin. Ciprofloxacin, which is known to be effective against gram-negative bacteria such as *E. coli*, also targets DNA replication by inhibiting the activity of the DNA gyrase. Studies have found that ciprofloxacin-resistant *E. coli* often show mutations in the GyrA subunit in the DNA gyrase (Thai et al., 2022).

Proposed Hypothesis

Based on our understanding of the behavior of *E. coli* AcrAB-TolC efflux pumps and DHB, we hypothesize that increasing the amount of DHB in the liquid culture media will induce antibiotic resistance of *E. coli* but reduce its growth rate as a compromise. As the efflux pump will primarily be responsible for removing toxic molecules within the bacteria cell, we also hypothesize that DHB will induce different levels of antibiotic resistance based on the mechanism of action of the specific antibiotic. The upregulation of the efflux pump will most likely be able to remove antibiotics that have a mechanism of action within the cell than antibiotics that work outside of the cell.

To accomplish these goals, we determined growth patterns by culturing *E. coli* in differing concentrations of DHB, ranging from 0-5.0 mM. The increasing DHB concentration will theoretically increase the intensity of antibiotic resistance in *E. coli*. We also investigated possible antibiotic resistance changes by plating the *E. coli* cultures on LB plates with discs containing different types of antibiotics and tracking the changes in ZOIs. This allowed us to analyze how the inducible resistance differed as the antibiotic mechanism of action changed.

Methods

Escherichia coli strain NCTC 9001 was streaked on a Luria-Bertani (LB) agar plate. Using the streak plate, a single colony was selected to inoculate liquid LB cultures. Liquid cultures were cultured in 15 mL conical tubes, with a total volume of 5 mL each, which were placed in a shaking incubator running at 300 RPM and 37.0 °C.

An initial 50 mM DHB stock solution was created by dissolving DHB in 100% methanol. Corresponding amounts were added to LB to create 5.0 mM, 3.0 mM, 1.5 mM, 0.8 mM, and 0.2 mM DHB final concentration liquid cultures. Negative controls of each DHB concentration were also created with equal amounts of methanol. To generate growth curves, the OD_{600s} were measured with a Thermo Scientific NanoDrop over the course of 8 hours, with readings taken every 2 hours.

To gain quantitative measurements of antibiotic resistance, the *E. coli* grown in the DHB liquid cultures were inoculated onto pre-poured LB plates. The liquid *E. coli* cultures (0-3.0 mM DHB) were evenly spread onto LB plates using sterile glass beads. Sterile filter discs were placed on the agar surface, and various amounts of antibiotics were pipetted onto each filter disc. The diameters of the resulting zone of inhibitions (ZOIs) surrounding the filter discs were measured and averaged.

The chosen antibiotics were either pre-made susceptibility discs or from a liquid stock. The antibiotics in pre-made susceptibility discs were chloramphenicol (30 μ g), polymyxin B (300 IU), nalidixic acid (30 μ g), and vancomycin (30 μ g). The antibiotics from a liquid stock that had to be pipetted onto the paper filter discs were 3 μ L of tetracycline (15 mg/mL), 10 μ L of ampicillin (32 μ g/mL), 7 μ L of ciprofloxacin (25 μ g/mL), and 7 μ L of carbenicillin (50 μ g/mL). Once the initial ZOI was measured and recorded in an Excel sheet, a two-tailed paired T-test was performed between 0 mM DHB and another concentration for one antibiotic.

The plates were kept under ambient light and temperature (approximately 25°C) for an additional seven days to observe further growth. Finally, a solution of DHB was evenly spread onto the surface of pre-poured LB plates. The plates were left undisturbed at room temperature for 24 hours before incubating the plate with 0.8 mM DHB *E. coli* followed by placing the filter discs containing the appropriate antibiotic. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours, and the resulting ZOIs were measured.

Results

To determine the growth characteristics of the *E. coli* strain, growth curves were generated for *E. coli* grown in liquid cultures with various DHB concentrations. In Figure 4, OD_{600s} were taken every 2 hours, and the different DHB concentrations are in different colors and data point shapes.



Figure 4: Growth of *E. coli* in different DHB concentrations, liquid *E. coli* cultures were grown in LB media with different DHB concentrations. OD_{600s} were collected for each culture over 8 hours, N = 2.

The OD_{600} readings increased over time, indicating growth in the liquid cultures, in liquid cultures 0-1.5 mM DHB (Figure 4). *E. coli* cultures grown in 3.0 and 5.0 mM DHB concentrations did not show an increase in OD_{600s} , and the cultures appeared clear even after 8 hours of incubation. Generally, cultures in lower concentrations of DHB had a faster growth rate than cultures grown in higher DHB concentrations. The OD_{600s} of the negative control cultures were also taken, but not included in Figure 4 to decrease clutter.

Figure 5 includes each liquid culture's OD_{600} at the 6-hour mark, alongside the negative controls. As DHB was dissolved in 100% methanol, the negative controls provided a baseline comparison for the DHB cultures.



Figure 5: OD₆₀₀ of *E. coli* after 8 hours of incubation, the averaged OD_{600s} of *E. coli* DHB cultures (blue) next to their corresponding negative control (orange), N = 2.

As seen in Figure 5, the OD_{600s} of the DHB cultures and their corresponding negative controls were similar. Despite this, *E. coli* that grew in DHB had a slightly lower OD_{600} than their negative control counterpart. In general, cultures with higher DHB or methanol had lower OD_{600s} . This is expected, as there is a fitness cost for *E. coli* in these DHB concentrations to maintain homeostasis, and high methanol concentrations can be lethal to cells.

To determine possible antibiotic characteristics between the different DHB cultures, each culture was plated onto a pre-poured LB plate. The plate was divided into quarters with each quarter containing an antibiotic disc. The plates were allowed to incubate for a day, and the averaged ZOI measurements can be seen in the graph below. Unfortunately, the 5.0 mM DHB concentration culture was unable to grow in the liquid culture, and when inoculated onto an LB plate no colonies grew.





As seen in Figure 6, many of the measured ZOI for the eight antibiotics did not have the expected trend. The expected trend was a decrease in ZOI with an increase in DHB concentration, however, there were no noticeable trends with most of the antibiotics measured. The only antibiotic with the expected trend was vancomycin.

A T-test was also performed between 0 mM DHB and the other concentrations to determine if there was statistical significance between the concentrations in comparison to 0 mM DHB. Most resulted in no statistical significance, however, there was statistical significance between 0 mM DHB and 0.8 mM DHB ZOIs for ciprofloxacin.

Each plate was allowed to sit at room temperature for a week after the initial incubation for continued observation. The final ZOI and any additional growth within the ZOI were noted and can be found in Appendix Table D and key findings in Figure 7 below. Overall, the ZOI had no significant increase or decrease, but individual colony growth could be found in the ZOI of tetracycline and nalidixic acid.



Figure 7: Photograph of Growth in ZOI, after being left on the benchtop for a week with the correlated DHB concentration in white text boxes and the antibiotic written on the plate. Tetra stands for tetracycline and nal acid stands for nalidixic acid.

As seen in Figure 7 above, there was clear growth within the ZOI of tetracycline and nalidixic acid. It should be noted that although 0 mM DHB *E. coli* grew in the absence of DHB, there was still growth within the tetracycline ZOI. There was no significant change in the measured ZOI averages after the plates were left on the benchtop for one week (Appendix Table D).

Finally, DHB was spread onto pre-poured plates prior to plating *E. coli*. The chosen DHB concentration was 0.8 mM. The ZOI of each antibiotic was measured after one day of incubation. The averaged ZOI did not show a significant difference between DHB being present on the agar versus DHB being absent (Appendix Table E).

Discussion

There has been a great increase in antibiotic resistance since the discovery of penicillin. The emergence of antibiotic-resistant strains of bacteria has created a new reality where common infections are becoming increasingly difficult to treat. Although it is widely accepted that the increase in antibiotic resistance is due to the misuse and overuse of antibiotics, there may be other additional factors that contribute to this increase.

Based on previous research by Ruiz and Levy, DHB can spontaneously enter the cell through the cell membrane until it reaches the same concentration as the liquid media. DHB is proposed to increase the *acrAB* operon activity, which ultimately results in the upregulation of the AcrAB-TolC pump, the main efflux pump in *E. coli*. This efflux pump is not confined to DHB and is also able to efflux out other toxic molecules such as antibiotics. Based on this, our initial prediction was that a higher DHB concentration in liquid media would result in *E. coli* being more resistant to antibiotics that operated within the cytoplasm of the cell.

Data interpretation

To test this, we measured the ZOI of antibiotics with *E. coli* grown in different DHB concentrations. The expected result was a decrease in ZOI with an increase in DHB concentration, however, this was not observed in our results - there was no significant difference between the average ZOI between different DHB concentrations (Figure 6) except for 0 mM DHB and 0.8 mM DHB ZOIs for ciprofloxacin. This significant difference was also unexpected, as the 0.8 mM DHB concentration had a higher ZOI than the 0 mM DHB for ciprofloxacin.

Some of the data collected also worked against our hypothesis. For example, in Figure 6, 0 mM DHB had an average ZOI of 14.5 mm while the other DHB concentrations had a much higher ZOI of around 18 mm. This suggests that DHB might actually be causing *E. coli* to be more susceptible to certain antibiotics. The hypothesized trend, where increasing DHB concentration would result in decreasing ZOIs, was absent in our data except for vancomycin (Figure 6).

While performing the second half of this project, we realized that the 5.0 mM DHB liquid culture never cultivated enough cells. This is most likely due to the high ratio of methanol to liquid media concentration. As previously mentioned, high concentrations of methanol are lethal to cells. Although *E. coli* may be hardier than other cell types, the methanol concentration in the 5.0 mM DHB media was still most likely too high (0.5 mL of methanol to 4.5 mL of LB liquid media). Generally, methanol should not exceed 1% of the total liquid volume, and the observed results from Figure 5 are reflective of this.

The lack of significant change in average ZOI measurements with the change in DHB concentrations could be attributed to the absence of DHB in the pre-poured plates. As a metabolite that enters the cell and upregulates the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump through its *acrAB* operon, DHB must be present in the external environment. It is possible that the upregulation of the efflux pump ceased once the *E. coli* was inoculated onto the pre-poured LB plate lacking DHB. Therefore, to further investigate the role of DHB in modulating antibiotic resistance in *E. coli*, future experiments should be designed to include DHB in the LB plates. While this approach was tested with the 0.8 mM DHB concentration, there was no significant difference observed in the average ZOI between pre-poured plates with and without DHB (Appendix Table E).

Further data collected revealed the growth of nalidixic acid and tetracycline-resistant colonies after plates were incubated at room temperature for an additional week. The observed growth within the ZOI could be attributed to two potential causes: (1) the *E. coli* that survived due to previous exposure to DHB may have required more time to grow within the ZOI due to the cost fitness principle, and (2) the antibiotic potency within the ZOI might have degraded while the plates were left in suboptimal conditions.

The first reason suggests that *E. coli* that survived within the ZOI could have allotted more energy to maintaining the efflux pump rather than growth, resulting in increased growth time. For the second reason, the extended exposure of the plates to ambient temperature, humidity, and light may have led to the antibiotics degrading, resulting in the growth of colonies that were previously inhibited. This is supported by visible colonies within the tetracycline ZOI of 0 mM DHB (Figure 7). Exposure to ambient light during the additional week the plates were left on the bench may have caused degradation of the light-sensitive antibiotic tetracycline, leading to colony growth within the previous zone of inhibition.

In Figure 7, it should also be noted that the colonies that grew within the tetracycline were scattered throughout the ZOI while the colonies that grew within the nalidixic acid were primarily near the edge of the zone. This could be another indication that the tetracycline has degraded since colonies were sporadically appearing near the tetracycline disc, which is typically the area of the highest antibiotic concentration. Since colonies were occasionally appearing near the tetracycline disc, the tetracycline likely degraded within the week of additional incubation.

Improvements to Experimental Design

To improve the experimental design, some modifications would be implemented if this experiment were to be replicated. As mentioned in the previous section, the LB plates should contain the appropriate amount of DHB to maintain the upregulation of the efflux pump. Another improvement could be to prepare the DHB stock solution at a much higher molarity, which

would significantly lower the amount of overall methanol added to each DHB concentration and reduce its toxicity. For even greater consistency, the same amount of methanol could be added regardless of the final DHB concentration.

In addition, the experimental design could be improved by including a positive control group, such as an *E. coli* strain with an overexpression of the AcrAB-TolC. There are also other possible methods for obtaining quantitative data on antibiotic resistance changes: (1) the antibiotics could have been introduced in the liquid media and the OD_{600s} could have been tracked instead, or (2) an antibiotic concentration threshold could be established for isolated colony growth, and colonies could be manually counted and correlated to DHB concentration.

Future Work & Conclusions

With further research, we realized that the predicted mechanism of AcrAB-TolC pump effluxes molecules not within the cytoplasm, but from the periplasm (Figure 3). Initially, when running the experiments, we thought the pump effluxed molecules within the cytoplasm and based the antibiotic predictions off of that. In Ruiz and Levy's paper this was just a hypothetical interaction, but the TolC portion of this pump complex has a known open state within the periplasmic called the periplasmic tunnel entrance (Andersen et al., 2002). It is possible that based on the hypothetical interaction in Figure 3, the antibiotics that would be resisted are not antibiotics that work within the cytoplasm, but those that work within the periplasm.

One example of an antibiotic that works within the periplasm is vancomycin. As mentioned previously in the introduction, vancomycin inhibits cell wall synthesis by binding to cell wall precursors. Vancomycin is known for inhibiting Gram-positive bacteria by binding to its D-Ala-D-Ala terminal of a growing cell wall, however, it turns out that this binding site is also present in the Gram-negative *E. coli* within the periplasm (Antonoplis et al., 2019). The periplasm is generally inaccessible to vancomycin, a large scaffold molecule, as vancomycin is unable to penetrate the outer membrane barrier.

Vancomycin is typically ineffective against Gram-negative bacteria, but the vancomycin in this study still generated a ZOI as the concentration in the susceptibility disc was relatively high. Although vancomycin's average ZOI was still much smaller than the other antibiotics (Figure 6), the vancomycin data collected in Figure 6 supports our hypothesis: higher DHB concentrations will result in lower ZOI. In Figure 6, the vancomycin ZOI averages decreased as the DHB concentration increased. If the vancomycin is working within the periplasm, then the pump may be upregulated as expected.

Misuse or overuse of antibiotics is commonly acknowledged as the root cause of antibiotic resistance, and even weak selective pressures can lead to the development of high-level

resistance when bacteria are constantly exposed to low levels of antibiotics. It is possible that the low levels of antibiotics found in various environments could contribute to the evolution of clinically significant high-level resistant strains (Wistrand-Yuen et al., 2018).

It is also possible that metabolites can be a contributing factor to antibiotic resistance. Metabolites can be present in either the external environment or generated as a product or side product of natural metabolism. The metabolic state of the bacteria can play a huge role in the efficacy of antibiotics (Stokes et al., 2019). In the case of DHB, the metabolic state of *E. coli* favored the upregulation of the AcrAB-TolC pump, resulting in reduced efficacy of vancomycin with an increase in DHB concentration. As vancomycin's mechanism of action in *E. coli* is located within the periplasm, the AcrAB-TolC pump was able to efflux out the vancomycin, allowing cells to grow on agar closer to the disc. DHB is also a relatively small and simple molecule. As seen in Figure 2 in red, the oxygen molecules are located in easily accessible locations. *E. coli* should be able to easily oxidize DHB precursors to create DHB as a metabolic intermediate.

With further investigation, it may be possible to intervene with the metabolic changes from either internal or external metabolite sources. One study by Vestergaard et al. in 2017 found that bacteria that were intrinsically resistant to certain antibiotics could become susceptible if the bacterial metabolism was modulated. In future studies, DHB could be continued to be investigated with other antibiotics that act within the periplasm. Since DHB has been detected in the blood plasma and urine of healthy individuals who took aspirin for pain relief (Grootveld & Halliwell, 1988), additional research could investigate whether taking aspirin alongside some antibiotics could exacerbate any potential negative effects.

While our study did not provide conclusive evidence of the relationship between DHB concentration and antibiotic resistance in *E. coli*, the investigation of the role of DHB and other metabolites in modulating antibiotic resistance remains a crucial area of research. By gaining a deeper understanding of the complex interactions between bacterial metabolism and the evolution of resistance, it may be possible to develop new approaches to combat antibiotic resistance. Future studies could focus on exploring the effects of different metabolites on antibiotic resistance in various bacterial species, as well as the potential use of metabolites as adjunct therapies to enhance the efficacy of existing antibiotics. Overall, our study highlights the importance of continued research in this field to address the growing threat of antibiotic resistance.

References

- AlRabiah H, Allwood JW, Correa E, Xu Y, Goodacre R (2018) pH plays a role in the mode of action of trimethoprim on *Escherichia coli*. PLOS ONE 13(7): e0200272. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200272
- Andersen, C.; Koronakis, E.; Bokma, E.; Eswaran, J.; Humphreys, D.; Hughes, C.; Koronakis, V. Transition to the Open State of the TolC Periplasmic Tunnel Entrance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2002, *99*, 11103–11108.
- Antonoplis, A., Zang, X., Wegner, T., Wender, P. A., and Cegelski, L. Vancomycin–Arginine Conjugate Inhibits Growth of Carbapenem-Resistant *E. coli* and Targets Cell-Wall Synthesis. ACS Chemical Biology 2019 14 (9), 2065-2070 DOI: 10.1021/acschembio.9b00565
- Baker, and McBrine. "Existing and Inducible Antibiotic Resistance in Worcester, Massachusetts." *Digital WPI*, 16 July 2022, https://digitalwpi.wpi.edu/concern/parent/hh63t004t/file_sets/th83m271k.
- Baron S, editor. Medical Microbiology. 4th edition. Galveston (TX): University of Texas Medical Branch at 2Galveston; 1996. Introduction to Bacteriology. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK8120/
- Cook, Michael A., and Gerard D. Wright. "The Past, Present, and Future of Antibiotics." *Science Translational Medicine*, vol. 14, no. 657, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abo7793.
- Daugelavicius, R, et al. "Stages of Polymyxin B Interaction with the Escherichia Coli Cell Envelope." *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, U.S. National Library of Medicine, 1 Nov. 2000, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11036008/.
- Du, Dijun, et al. "Structure of the Acrab-Tolc Multidrug Efflux Pump." Nature, U.S. National Library of Medicine, 22 May 2014, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4361902/.
- *Escherichia Coli (Migula) Castellani and Chalmers 11775 | ATCC.* https://www.atcc.org/products/11775.
- Grootveld, M., & Halliwell, B. (1988). 2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic acid is a product of human aspirin metabolism. Biochemical Pharmacology, 37(2), 271–280. doi:10.1016/0006-2952(88)90729-0
- Hassan, M., Kjos, M., Nes, I.F., Diep, D.B. and Lotfipour, F. (2012), Natural antimicrobial peptides from bacteria: characteristics and potential applications to fight against antibiotic resistance. J Appl Microbiol, 113: 723-736. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05338.x

- Kapoor, G., Saigal, S., & Elongavan, A. (2017). Action and resistance mechanisms of antibiotics: A guide for clinicians. *Journal of anaesthesiology, clinical pharmacology*, 33(3), 300–305. https://doi.org/10.4103/joacp.JOACP_349_15
- Kidsley, A. K., Abraham, S., Bell, J. M., O'Dea, M., Laird, T. J., Jordan, D., Mitchell, P., McDevitt, C. A., & Trott, D. J. (2018). Antimicrobial Susceptibility of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* spp. Isolates From Healthy Pigs in Australia: Results of a Pilot National Survey. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *9*, 1207. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01207
- Lane N. (2015). The unseen world: reflections on Leeuwenhoek (1677) 'Concerning little animals'. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences*, *370*(1666), 20140344. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2014.0344
- Lee, A. J., Wang, S., Meredith, H. R., and You L. (2018). Robust, linear correlations between growth rates and β-lactam–mediated lysis rates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115(16), 4069-4074. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1719504115
- Leewenhoeck A. (1677). Observation, communicated to the publisher by Mr. Antony van Leewenhoeck, in a Dutch letter of the 9 Octob. 1676 here English'd: concerning little animals by him observed in rain-well-sea and snow water; as also in water wherein pepper had lain infused. *Phil. Trans.* 12, 821–831. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstl.1677.0003
- Li, M., Liu, Q., Teng, Y., Ou, L., Xi, Y., Chen, S., & Duan, G. (2019). The resistance mechanism of *Escherichia coli* induced by ampicillin in laboratory. *Infection and drug resistance*, *12*, 2853–2863. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S221212
- Martínez, José L., et al. "What Is a Resistance Gene? Ranking Risk in Resistomes." *Nature News*, Nature Publishing Group, 15 Dec. 2014, https://www.nature.com/articles/nrmicro3399.
- Medeiros, A. A., Kent, R. L., & O'Brien, T. F. (1974). Characterization and prevalence of the different mechanisms of resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics in clinical isolates of Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 6(6), 791–801. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.6.6.791
- Melnyk AH, Wong A. "The Fitness Costs of Antibiotic Resistance Mutations." *Evolutionary Applications*, U.S. National Library of Medicine, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25861385/.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information (2022). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 20824, Carbenicillin. Retrieved December 22, 2022 from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Carbenicillin
- National Center for Biotechnology Information (2022). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 19, 2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic acid. Retrieved December 22, 2022 from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/2_3-Dihydroxybenzoic-acid

- National Human Genome Research Institute, (2022). Bacteria. Available from: https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/Bacteria
- Overbye K. M. and Barrett J. F. (2005). Antibiotics: Where did we go wrong? *Drug Discovery Today*, Vol. 10, Issue 1, pp. 45-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1359-6446(04)03285-4
- Peechakara BV, Basit H, Gupta M. Ampicillin. [Updated 2022 Aug 31]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK519569/
- Penesyan A, Gillings M, Paulsen IT. Antibiotic Discovery: Combatting Bacterial Resistance in Cells and in Biofilm Communities. *Molecules*. 2015; 20(4):5286-5298. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules20045286
- Peterson JW. Bacterial Pathogenesis. In: Baron S, editor. Medical Microbiology. 4th edition. Galveston (TX): University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston; 1996. Chapter 7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK8526/
- Ruiz, C., & Levy, S. B. (2014). Regulation of acrAB expression by cellular metabolites in Escherichia coli. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, 69(2), 390–399. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkt352
- Salton MRJ, Kim KS. Structure. In: Baron S, editor. Medical Microbiology. 4th edition. Galveston (TX): University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston; 1996. Chapter 2. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK8477/
- Siddiqui, Sharmin, et al. "Investigating the Mechanism of Binding of Nalidixic Acid with Deoxyribonucleic Acid and Serum Albumin: A Biophysical and Molecular Docking Approaches." *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics*, vol. 39, no. 2, 2020, pp. 570–585., https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2020.1711808.
- Stokes, J. M., Lopatkin, A. J., Lobritz, M. A., & Collins, J. J. (2019). Bacterial Metabolism and Antibiotic Efficacy. *Cell metabolism*, 30(2), 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2019.06.009
- Sutterlin, Holly A., et al. "Accumulation of Phosphatidic Acid Increases Vancomycin Resistance in Escherichia Coli." *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 196, no. 18, 2014, pp. 3214–3220., https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.01876-14.
- Thai T, Salisbury BH, Zito PM. Ciprofloxacin. [Updated 2022 Sep 2]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK535454/
- Vestergaard M., Nøhr-Meldgaard K., Bojer M. S., Nielsen C. K., Meyer R. L., Slavetinsky C., Peschel A. & Ingmer H. (2017). Inhibition of the ATP Synthase Eliminates the Intrinsic Resistance of Staphylococcus aureus towards Polymyxins. *American Society for Microbiology*, 8(5), e01114-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01114-17

Wistrand-Yuen, Erik, et al. "Evolution of High-Level Resistance during Low-Level Antibiotic Exposure." *Nature News*, Nature Publishing Group, 23 Apr. 2018, https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-018-04059-1.

Appendix

Table A: Raw data of ZOI measurements collected for each DHB concentration with the corresponding antibiotic. All recordings are in millimeters.

Antibiotics	0 mM DHB (1)	0 mM DHB (2)	0 mM DHB (3)	0 mM DHB (4)	0 mM DH	HB (5)	0.2 mM DHB	(1) 0.2 mM	DHB (2)	0.2 mM DHB (3) 0.2 mM	DHB (4)
Tetracycline 3 uL (15 mg/mL)	22	27	30	25	i			22	22		24	26
Chloramphenicol 30 ug	21	19	17	19)	20		22	21		21	23
Polymyxin B 300 IU	13	12	10	14	ŧ.	14		13	18		15	15
Nalidixic acid 30 ug	22	20	16	24	ł.	22		18	25		20	20
Ampicillin 10 uL 32 ug/mL	15	10	13	20)			19	20		19	20
Ciprofloxacin 7 uL (25 ug/mL)	17	19	21					23	29		21	26
Carbenicillin 7 uL (50 ug/mL)	20	19	26					23	24		25	27
Vancomycin 30 ug	8	10	12					10	10		8	10
Antibiotics			2) 08 mM DH	P (2) 0 9 mM F		EmM			15 mM			
Tetracycline 2 ul (15 mg/ml)			27 0.0 1111/1 011	24	2/		22	11W D110 (2)	1.3 (1)((1)	25	(+) 0110 (+) 24	
Chloromohonicol 20 ur		14	27	24	24		12	15		17	20	,
Polymerica B 200 UL		20	15	15	16		15	10		17	13	,
Notidixis poid 20 up		10	12	15	10		12	10		12	1:	<u>,</u>
Nationale acid 50 ug	4	20	24	25	25		20	21		21	20	,
Ampicillin 10 ul 32 ug/ml	1	19	19	20	21		20	18		18	12	2
Ciprofloxacin 7 ul (25 ug/ml)		26	25	26	29		22	20		21	2	,
Carbenicillin 7 ul (50 ug/ml)		25	25	24	24		23	23		22	2	,
Vancomycin 30 ug	1	12	10	7	12		10	9		8	-	
	-							-				1
Antibiotics	3.0 mM DHB (1) 3.0 mM DHB (2) 3.0 mM DHE	3 (3) 3.0 mM D	HB (4) 3.	0 mM 0	OHB (5) 3.0 r	nM DHB (6)				
Tetracycline 3 uL (15 mg/mL)	2	7	28	26	22		24	28				
Chloramphenicol 30 ug	2	3	22	20	18		17	17				
Polymyxin B 300 IU	1	7	17	13	12		12	13				
Nalidixic acid 30 ug	2	6	26	21	21		20	21				
Ampicillin 10 uL 32 ug/mL	2	4	23	19	17		18	17				
Ciprofloxacin 7 uL (25 ug/mL)	2	8	27	24	18		18					
Carbenicillin 7 uL (50 ug/mL)	2	8	27	24	23		23	20				
Vancomycin 30 ug	1	1	12	8	6		7	6				

Table B: The averages of ZOI measurements and their corresponding DHB concentration from raw data in Table A above. The standard deviation was also calculated from raw data in Table A. The average and standard deviations were used to generate Figure 6.

Averages	0 mM DHB	0.2 mM DHB	0.8 mM DHB	1.5 mM DHB	3.0 mM DHB
Tetracycline	26	23.5	24.75	24.5	25.83333333
Chloramphenicol	19.2	21.75	20.75	16.25	19.5
Polymyxin B	12.6	15.25	14.75	12.5	14
Nalidixic acid	20.8	20.75	23	20.5	22.5
Ampicillin	14.5	19.5	19.75	18.5	19.66666667
Ciprofloxacin	19	24.75	26.5	21.25	23
Carbenicillin	21.66666667	24.75	24.5	22.5	24.16666667
Vancomycin	10	9.5	10.25	8.75	8.333333333
Standard Deviation	0 mM DHB	0.2 mM DHB	0.8 mM DHB	1.5 mM DHB	3.0 mM DHB
Tetracycline	2.915475947	1.658312395	1.299038106	1.118033989	2.19215774
Chloramphenicol	1.326649916	0.829156198	0.829156198	2.165063509	2.362907813
Polymyxin B	1.496662955	1.785357107	1.089724736	0.5	2.160246899
Nalidixic acid	2.712931993	2.586020108	1.870828693	0.5	2.5
Ampicillin	3.640054945	0.5	0.829156198	0.866025404	2.808716591
Ciprofloxacin	1.632993162	3.031088913	1.5	0.829156198	4.289522118
Carbenicillin	3.091206165	1.479019946	0.5	0.5	2.671869924
Vancomycin	1.632993162	0.866025404	2.046338193	0.829156198	2.357022604

Antibiotics in green have mechanisms of action within the cytoplasm and those in red have mechanisms of action outside of the cell.

Table C: Raw data of ZOI measurements obtained for each DHB concentration, along with the corresponding antibiotics. Plates were left in ambient temperature and light for a week before measurements were taken. Boxes highlighted in yellow indicate growth within ZOI was observed.

	0 mM DHB (1)	0 mM DHB (2) (mM DHB (3) 0	mM DHB (4) 0	mM DHB (5)	0.2 mM DHB (1) 0.2 mM DH	HB (2) 0.2 mN	1 DHB (3)	0.2 mM DH	B (4)
Tetracycline 3 uL (15 mg/mL)	25	21	30	26			21	19	20		20
Chloramphenicol 30 ug	20	21	22	23			22	20	20		22
Polymyxin B 300 IU	13	13	14	15			13	18	15		16
Nalidixic acid 30 ug	21	22	23	22			19	25	24		24
Ampicillin 10 uL 32 ug/mL	7	9		23			17	18	21		24
Ciprofloxacin 7 uL (25 ug/mL)				27			26	29	27		29
Carbenocillin 7 uL (50 ug/mL)				22			23	28	25		29
Vancomycin 30 ug				11			10	11	11		11
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	4 5				15-110	110 (4)	
Tetra sulling 2 vil (15 mg/ml)	0.8 MM DHB (1)) 0.8 mini DHB (2	0.8 mixi DHB (3) 0.8 mivi DHB (4) 1.5 mivi L	21 JHB (I) 1.5 MM	1 DHB (2) 1.5	MINI DHB (3)	1.5 mivi D	нв (4) Эг	
Chloromphonical 20 up	2	2 1 2	0 4 2 7	(D)	24	10	25	25		25	
Delumeric R 200 III	2	2 1	5 4	15 IE	15	10	19	19		12	
Nalidivis asid 20 uz	1	0 1 0 1		12	15	10	12	12		15	
Nationale acto 50 ug	2	0 2	4 4	.5	25	19	21	21		20	
Ampicillip 10 ul 32 ug/ml	1	a 7	1 3	2	22	17	19	21		22	
Ciprofloxacin 7 ul (25 ug/ml)	2	8 2	6 3	99	36	22	23	21		26	
Carbenocillin 7 ul (50 ug/ml)	2	5 2	4 2	5	27	20	20	22		24	
Vancomycin 30 ug	1	3 1	1 1	1	15	10	9	10		11	
	-	-	-	-			-				
	3.0 mM DHB (1) 3.0 mM DHB (2) 3.0 mM DHB (3	3.0 mM DHB	4) 3.0 mM	DHB (5) 3.0 ml	VI DHB (6)				
Tetracycline 3 uL (15 mg/mL)	3	0 2	5	26	21	23	28				
Chloramphenicol 30 ug	2	4 2	2	23	21	19	22				
Polymyxin B 300 IU	1	.8 1	8	13	12	12	13				
Nalidixic acid 30 ug	2	.6 2	4 :	22	21	20	21				
	_										
Ampicillin 10 uL 32 ug/mL	2	4 2	2	21	21	21	22				
Ciprofloxacin 7 uL (25 ug/mL)	3	4 3	1	25	24	29					
Carbenocillin 7 uL (50 ug/mL)	3	i0 a	0	24	24	23	25				
Vancomycin 30 ug	1	.4 1	0	9	9	9	8				

Table D: The average ZOI measurements from Table C (left) compared to the original averages before the plates were left in ambient temperature and light for a week (right).

						(original average	(original averages prior to one week)			
Averages	0 mM DHB	0.2 mM DHB	0.8 mM DHB	1.5 mM DHB	3.0 mM DHB	0 mM DHB	0.2 mM DHB	0.8 mM DHB	1.5 mM DHB	3.0 mM DHB
Tetracycline	25.5	20	24.5	23.5	25	26	23.5	24.75	24.5	25.83333333
Chloramphenicol	21.5	21	21.6	19	21.8	19.2	21.75	20.75	16.25	19.5
Polymyxin B	13.75	15.5	14.5	12.5	14.6	12.6	15.25	14.75	12.5	14
Nalidixic acid	22	23	22.2	20.25	22.6	20.8	20.75	23	20.5	22.5
Ampicillin	13	20	20.2	19.75	21.8	14.5	19.5	19.75	18.5	19.66666667
Ciprofloxacin	27	27.75	29.75	24	28.6	19	24.75	26.5	21.25	23
Carbenocillin	22	26.25	24.4	21.75	26.2	21.66666667	24.75	24.5	22.5	24.16666667
Vancomycin	11	10.75	12.5	10	10.2	10	9.5	10.25	8.75	8.333333333

Table E: The measured ZOI for 0.8 mM DHB where DHB was present in the LB agar and the average of the two samples. The original ZOI average in which DHB was absent from the agar is shown in the fourth column as a comparison. The ZOI measurements and average after the plates were left at ambient light and temperature are shown on the right, highlighted in yellow.

	Plated 0.8 with [OHB on agar		0.8 without DHB on agar		1 week in ambie		
	0.8 mM DHB (1)	0.8 mM DHB (2)	Average	Old 0.8 average		0.8 mM DHB (1)	0.8 mM DHB (2)	Average
Tetracycline	28	31	. 29.5	24.75		28	3 29	28.5
Chloramphenicol	20	24	22	20.75		23	3 25	24
Polymyxin B	16	17	16.5	14.75		16	5 17	16.5
Nalidixic acid	23	23	23	23		23	3 24	23.5
Ampicillin	23	22	22.5	19.75		26	5 25	25.5
Ciprofloxacin	26	30	28	26.5		37	7 30	33.5
Carbenocillin	28	28	28	24.5		28	3 30	29
Vancomycin	11	. 10	10.5	10.25		10) 12	. 11